6

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Pickens County

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN WILLIAM MCCARTY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002377

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED  
JUN 25 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Pickens County

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN WILLIAM MCCARTY,

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I. Did the circuit court judge abuse her discretion by failing to resolve any conflicts in the evidence presented regarding Appellant's entitlement to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act when the circuit court judge ruled that due to conflicts in the evidence, the case presented a "quintessential jury question"?

II. In the alternative, if this Court determines the judge did not abuse her discretion by abdicating her role as the fact finder, did the judge err by failing to find Appellant was immune from prosecution under the Act where Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he acted in defense of others?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 8, 2015, a Pickens County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2015-GS-39-2275) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2015-GS-39-2276). R. 564-569. Appellant moved for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act (hereinafter “the Act”) found at Section 16-11-410, et seq. of the South Carolina Code. R. 2, ll. 10-14. On February 23, 2017, the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin heard evidence and argument on the motion. R. 1. Baker Cleveland and Britni McCall represented the state. R. 1. Robert Newton represented Appellant. R. 1. At the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, defense counsel argued for a grant of immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) & (C). R. 112, ll. 9-13.<sup>1</sup> By an order dated April 7, 2017, Judge Verdin denied Appellant’s request for immunity. R. 132-135.

Thereafter, the state called the case to trial on October 16-18, 2017. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 541, ll. 11-22.<sup>2</sup> Judge Verdin sentenced Appellant to thirty years

---

<sup>1</sup> Defense counsel renewed his request for immunity at the close of the state’s case and at the close of all evidence. R. 431, l. 20 – R. 431, l. 24; R. 518, ll. 7-13

<sup>2</sup> When Judge Verdin charged the jury on the elements of self-defense, she informed the jury as follows:

All of the following elements are required to establish self-defense. To show that the person being defended had the right of self-defense, it must first be shown that the person being defended and the defendant were both without fault in bringing on the difficulty, that the person being defended is in imminent danger, and that the defendant had no other probable way to avoid danger of death or serious bodily injury of the person being defended than to act as the defendant did in this particular instance.

R. 534, ll. 8-19. There was no objection to this portion of the judge’s instruction, which included the requirement of “retreat” despite the evidence clearly showing Appellant and Wilson were within the curtilage of their homes.

imprisonment for murder and to five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 543, ll. 13-17; R. 564-569. She ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 543, l. 16; R. 564-569.

On October 26, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The appellate courts review a claim of immunity under the Act using an abuse of discretion standard of review. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013); see also State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Douglas, 411 S.C. at 316, 768 S.E.2d at 237 (internal citation omitted).

## ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court judge abused her discretion by failing to resolve any conflicts in the evidence presented regarding Appellant's entitlement to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act when the circuit court judge ruled that due to conflicts in the evidence, the case presented a "quintessential jury question."

### **Relevant facts**

In 2015, Randy Wilson and Appellant were partners for almost thirty years. R. 10, ll. 3-12; R. 74, ll. 13-22. The two lived in a trailer in Liberty. R. 4, ll. 17-24; R. 5, ll. 11-23. Around 2013, Jacob Kirk was down on his luck with nowhere to go when Wilson and Appellant agreed to allow him to live with them. R. 4, ll. 15-19; R. 8, ll. 8-12; R. 85, ll. 8-13. The arrangement worked well for a time because Kirk, who did not pay rent, assisted Wilson with household chores that Wilson was no longer able to do as a result of an old injury to his neck. R. 8, l. 13 – R. 9, l. 8; R. 9, ll. 20-24; R. 85, ll. 17-21. When Wilson was sixteen-years old, he was riding a bicycle after an interview for his first job. R. 6, ll. 6-7. Suddenly, a car going sixty-five miles per hour hit him. R. 6, ll. 7-8. Wilson suffered a broken neck as a result. R. 6, ll. 8-10. Over the years, Wilson's neck pain intensified greatly limiting his functioning and abilities. R. 7, ll. 14-23.

On July 15, 2015, Kirk's brother, Mitchell Bradley, was visiting Kirk at Wilson and Appellant's home. R. 4, ll. 15-16; R. 49, ll. 14-19; R. 84, l. 25 – R. 85, l. 2; R. 86, ll. 2-5. Appellant arrived home from work between 5:30 p.m. and 6:30 p.m. R. 49, ll. 1-7. Wilson arrived home from running errands around 7 p.m. R. 11, ll. 20-22; R. 49, l. 19. Wilson prepared dinner for the foursome upon his arrival home. R. 12, ll. 2-4. Wilson and Appellant ate their dinner. R. 12, l. 4; R. 49, ll. 20-23. Wilson put two plates of food in the microwave for Kirk and

Bradley. R. 12, ll. 4-6. Wilson then spoke to his niece on the phone, and Appellant went to bed. R. 12, ll. 8-9; R. 50, l. 1 – R. 51, l. 20; R. 66, ll. 16-19.

While Wilson was on the phone, Kirk interrupted him about the food. R. 12, ll. 9-10; R. 87, ll. 5-9. Wilson admonished him for interrupting, which angered Kirk. R. 12, ll. 11-13. Kirk then hit Wilson in the shoulder. R. 12, ll. 14-15. When Wilson told Kirk, he was being rude, Kirk grew incensed. R. 12, ll. 16-17; R. 88, ll. 18-19. Wilson then called the police because Kirk was “out of control.” R. 12, l. 19; R. 89, ll. 2-13. On the call with 911, Kirk can be heard threatening to slice Wilson. R. 31, ll. 12-15.

Wilson told Kirk and Bradley that he wanted them to leave. R. 12, l. 22 – R. 13, l. 3; R. 87, ll. 11-12. Kirk readily agreed to leave and began packing his belongings. R. 13, ll. 1-3; R. 42, ll. 12-15; R. 88, ll. 21-22. Bradley, however, refused to leave. R. 13, ll. 19-20; R. 14, ll. 4-6. In response to Wilson’s call, two police officers arrived. R. 13, ll. 13-14; R. 78, l. 18 – R. 79, l. 1. According to one of the officers, Wilson, Kirk, and Bradley were “grossly intoxicated.” R. 79, ll. 6-24; see also R. 56, ll. 10-11; R. 88, ll. 2-11; R. 105, ll. 6-13. While the police were at the residence, Appellant remained in his bedroom. R. 80, ll. 1-14; R. 50, l. 21 – R. 51, l. 4. According to Appellant, when the officer looked into the bedroom, the officer told him there was no reason for him to get up because the situation was under control. R. 50, l. 21 – R. 51, l. 2; R. 51, ll. 16-17; R. 68, ll. 2-3. Appellant went back to sleep. R. 51, ll. 2-4; R. 51, l. 18.

Wilson asked the officers to make Bradley leave. R. 15, ll. 3-9; R. 80, ll. 15-24. However, the officers refused to make Bradley leave. R. 15, ll. 15-21; R. 81, ll. 21-25; R. 90, ll. 10-14. According to the officers, Bradley was invited by Kirk, who was a resident; therefore, Wilson could not expel him. R. 15, ll. 15-17; R. 80, ll. 22-24; R. 81, ll. 15-20. Wilson pleaded with the officers “to do something” because he feared Kirk and Bradley would “get onto [him]

again.” R. 15, ll. 21-23. Nevertheless, the police left. R. 82, ll. 1-7. Kirk then walked to Wilson and said, “[S]ee, just because it’s your property doesn’t mean that you get to control everything that goes on here.” R. 92, ll. 2-6.

To facilitate Kirk’s leaving, Wilson began fixing his truck. R. 15, ll. 8-13. Bradley walked over to the truck and placed his beer can on the radiator. R. 14, ll. 14-16. While Wilson was reaching for a tool, he knocked over Bradley’s beer. R. 14, ll. 16-19. Bradley flew into a rage, grabbing Wilson by his arm and slinging him around. R. 14, ll. 19-2. When Wilson explained he did not intentionally knock over the beer, Bradley left him alone. R. 14, l. 24 – R. 15, l. 1.

When Wilson finished working on the truck, he started walking up the steps to reach the porch where Bradley was. R. 16, ll. 3-4. Bradley stood at the steps and hit Wilson’s headlamp to turn it off and asked what he was going to do about it. R. 16, ll. 4-9. Bradley’s position on the steps would not permit Wilson to get up to the porch so Wilson pushed him to the side. R. 16, ll. 10-12.<sup>3</sup> According to Kirk, Wilson was “shuffling through [Bradley]’s stuff” “like cigarette tubes where he rolls his own cigarettes,” “just making a mess of things, throwing his stuff around.” R. 92, ll. 8-13. Kirk explained that he knew “those all aren’t things to get upset about. But to some people, it’s an attack to their character.” R. 106, ll. 15-17. He analogized messing with cigarettes to someone messing with “another person’s mother.” R. 106, ll. 17-19. He explained that even though it was not to that person directly, the person would retaliate. R. 106, ll. 17-20.

---

<sup>3</sup> The prosecutor impeached Wilson with a statement to law enforcement that he was pouring out Bradley’s beers, but Wilson explained that what he meant was that he spilled Bradley’s beer. R. 32, ll. 11-16. The prosecutor construed Wilson’s statement to police to mean that Wilson was “egging them on by pouring out their beers.” R. 32, ll. 19-22.

Bradley then shoved Wilson down the steps. R. 16, ll. 12-13; R. 92, ll. 15-19; R. 93, ll. 9-12. Wilson's fall broke his leg and two of the steps. R. 16, ll. 13-15; R. 25, ll. 2-19; R. 92, l. 19. According to Kirk, Wilson began yelling for Appellant while he was on the ground with his injuries from the fall. R. 93, ll. 13-17

Wilson then used the handrailing to get up from the concrete pad to which he had fallen. R. 16, ll. 19-21; R. 94, ll. 5-10. As Wilson scabbled up the steps, he knocked over another beer that was on the handrailing. R. 16, ll. 21-23; R. 37, ll. 9-10. Kirk claimed Wilson intentionally knocked the beer off the railing. R. 94, ll. 12-14. Wilson then reached for the door to enter his home, but he was shoved from behind by Bradley before he could enter. R. 16, l. 23 – R. 17, l. 1; R. 35, ll. 1-7; R. 37, ll. 9-12. It was undisputed that when Wilson was trying to get back into the house, he was retreating. R. 108, ll. 1-6; R. 109, ll. 12-16. Kirk agreed that Wilson "was trying to get away, trying to get back in the house and [Bradley] wasn't letting him do that." R. 109, ll. 12-16.

According to Kirk, Wilson knocking the beer over "incited [Bradley] to grab [Wilson] and push him into the corner." R. 94, ll. 17-19. Frightened and in fear for his life, Wilson screamed for Appellant. R. 17, ll. 1-2; R. 17, ll. 17-24; R. 19, ll. 11-15; R. 95, ll. 2-3. Appellant heard Wilson's screams – "a help cry of life-or death." R. 51, ll. 18-20; R. 56, ll. 2-6.

Bradley was holding and shoving Wilson. R. 17, ll. 6-8.<sup>4</sup> Bradley was pushing Wilson over the bannister. R. 37, ll. 17-25. Kirk claimed Bradley was "popping" Wilson in the face with an open hand. R. 95, ll. 4-9. Kirk believed Bradley was trying to "incite him to throw the

---

<sup>4</sup> Wilson was 5'8" and between 145 and 180 pounds. R. 44, ll. 11-13; R. 103, ll. 7-8. Bradley was 5'11" and 150 pounds. R. 102, l. 25 – R. 103, l. 1. Bradley was approximately twenty-three years old at the time. R. 45, ll. 7-12. Bradley was considerably stronger than Wilson. R. 45, ll. 13-14.

first punch.” R. 95, ll. 12-13. While Bradley popped Wilson in the face, Bradley repeatedly asked why he was “hollering for [Appellant].” R. 95, ll. 16-18.

Wilson saw Bradley draw back to punch him, but Bradley did not because Appellant appeared and fired a warning shot into the floor – hoping to diffuse the situation. R. 17, ll. 8-14; R. 39, ll. 13-14; R. 110, l. 25 – R. 111, l. 4; R. 52, ll. 17-21; R. 55, ll. 19-24; R. 56, ll. 7-10; R. 96, ll. 11-13. Kirk claimed that when Appellant walked up, Wilson “threw a punch.” R. 96, ll. 16-17. Appellant had tried, desperately, to open the door to get to the porch, but he was unable to do so because Bradley and Wilson were blocking the door. R. 39, ll. 8-12; R. 53, ll. 13-24; R. 60, ll. 21-23; R. 62, ll. 17-23; R. 97, ll. 8-19. Despite the warning shot, Bradley’s attack against Wilson continued. R. 20, ll. 10-18; R. 53, ll. 2-4. Then, Appellant shot Bradley. R. 20, l. 19 – R. 21, l. 3; R. 39, ll. 15-22. Kirk claimed that after the warning shot, Wilson pushed Bradley off of him, which was when Appellant then shot Bradley. R. 96, ll. 23-25. Appellant made clear that he shot Bradley because he feared for Wilson would suffer serious bodily injury or death. R. 54, ll. 6-14; R. 15-18. Wilson performed CPR on Bradley while Kirk called 911. R. 21, ll. 4-12; R. 21, ll. 16-22; R. 82, ll. 16-23.

In ruling on Appellant’s motion, Judge Verdin concluded that “[w]hether or not a defendant is without fault in bringing on the difficulty presents ‘a quintessential jury question’ which is ‘not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution.’” R. 134 (quoting State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013)). Judge Verdin also explained that because Appellant was “only entitled to immunity if Wilson was entitled to act in self-defense,” it was “a material question as to whether Wilson was at fault in bringing about the difficulty.” R. 134-135. After recognizing that “one is not entitled to act in defense of others if the other person provoked the encounter and therefore would not be entitled to act in self-defense,” Judge Verdin

concluded the “evidence presented conflicting views as to Randy Wilson’s involvement in the argument that led to the fatal encounter, and that presents a factual question that must be answered by a jury.” R. 135.

### **Discussion**

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to “codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). The General Assembly found it “proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, *and others* from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves *and others*.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B) (emphasis added). The General Assembly recognized “that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate this intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). Specifically, the Act provides two presumptions for the immunity determination. For purposes of this case, the second presumption is applicable. The Act provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of

business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). During the pretrial hearing, a defendant must show “a valid case of self-defense must exist,” excluding the duty to retreat prong, “and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity.” Id. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266.

The circuit court judge abused her discretion by failing to making the findings of fact and conclusions of law necessary to determine whether Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that his conduct satisfied the Act. After recognizing that the key issue in the case was whether Wilson was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, the judge stated that “[w]hether or not a defendant is without fault in bringing on the difficulty present[ed] ‘a quintessential jury question’ which [was] ‘not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution.’” R. 134 (quoting Curry, 406 S.C. at 372 752 S.E.2d at 267). According to the judge “[t]he evidence presented conflicting views as to Randy Wilson’s involvement in the argument that led to the fatal encounter, and that presents a factual question that must be answered by a jury.” R. 135. Essentially, the circuit court judge refused to decide whether Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he acted in defense of others. This refusal was an abuse of discretion.

Based on the controlling case law requiring judges to decide whether a person is entitled to immunity based upon a preponderance of the evidence standard, judges have a duty to make

credibility findings to the extent there was conflicting testimony during the immunity hearing. This is no different than any other setting in which the judge must act as finder of fact and judge of the law, including family court cases and matters in equity. Perhaps the best analogy is a civil bench trial during which the trial judge would be required to find the facts by a preponderance of the evidence, especially when conflicting evidence exists regarding the true facts. See e.g., Brown v. Allstate Ins. Co., 344 S.C. 21, 27, 542 S.E.2d 723, 726 (2001) (“A trial judge’s role in a bench trial is to admit all evidence and then evaluate it in a non-jury setting.”); Rule 52 (a), SCRPC (explaining that in non-jury actions, “the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon”). Continuing with the analogy to civil cases, the lower court appears to have applied the standard for determining whether a party is entitled to summary judgment – whether any genuine issue of material fact exists. See Rule 56, SCRPC; Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). For the circuit court to rule that because testimony was conflicting it created a *jury question* was an abdication of the circuit court’s obligation to Appellant, and the law.

The Supreme Court’s decision in In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002) is particularly instructive. The state sought to have Luckabaugh declared a sexually violent predator. Id. at 129, 568 S.E.2d at 341. The circuit court concluded Luckabaugh was not a sexually violent predator. Id. at 131, 568 S.E.2d at 342. After quoting the order, the Supreme Court explained “[t]he order did not find any facts to support its legal conclusion that the state failed to carry its burden of proof.” Id. In other settings, the Supreme Court was familiar with reviewing the adequacy of orders, including in family court and administrative law decisions. Id. at 132, 568 S.E.2d at 342. Thus, the Court applied those same principles to the Luckabaugh matter. Id.

The Court explained that while it did not require a lower court to set out findings on all the myriad factual questions arising in a particular case, it did require the lower court to set out findings sufficient to allow a reviewing court “to ensure the law is faithfully executed below.” Id. at 133, 568 S.E.2d at 343. Further, the Court explained that the lack of factual findings made the task of the reviewing court “impossible because the reasons underlying the decision [are] left to speculation.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). Thereafter, the Court held the Luckabaugh order failed to set forth sufficient findings of fact to support the trial judge’s conclusions of law. Id. Additionally, the Court held its “review of the record [could not] save the order from its deficiencies due to the contradictory testimony presented below.” Id. The contradictory testimony left the appellate court to speculate if the circuit court reached its conclusion because it believed Luckabaugh’s testimony or that of medical experts. Id.

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