**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Pickens County

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
JUL 08 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN WILLIAM MCCARTY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-002377  
\_\_\_\_\_

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 73986

South Carolina Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6307

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

In this regard, the circuit court’s language mirrors the analysis used in State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013). In Curry, the trial court also considered conflicting evidence at a pre-trial immunity hearing. The State’s witnesses testified that the defendant got into an altercation with the victim, left the room to retrieve a firearm, and returned to shoot the victim in the back. The defendant testified he already had his firearm in his pocket and only shot when the victim lunged at him. After noting the Act requires a “pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard” the Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s denial of immunity. Id. at 370, 752 S.E.2d at 266. The court held that the defendant’s “claim of self-

defense presents a *quintessential jury question*, which, most assuredly, is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution.” *Id.* at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267 (emphasis added). Thus, the Supreme Court in *Curry* used the same language and reasoning as the circuit court in this case: because the defendant did not establish immunity by a preponderance of evidence at the hearing, his claim of self-defense created a question for the jury.

In addition to using language that aligns with controlling precedent, the circuit court’s actions during the immunity hearing reveal it weighed the evidence and applied the correct burden of proof. As noted above, at one point the solicitor argued that the jury would need to determine whether appellant’s use of deadly force was reasonable. The circuit court pushed back, rhetorically asking, “so are you saying immunity is never available at this stage?” (R. 118, l. 9-10). The solicitor replied that immunity is available, but appellant simply failed to prove his case. (R. 118, l. 10-15). In other words, because appellant failed to carry his burden at the hearing, the case would go to a jury. (R. 118, l. 15-18). By forcing the solicitor to articulate that point, the circuit court demonstrated it understood the distinction between its role as fact-finder at the immunity hearing and the jury’s role as fact-finder at a trial.<sup>6</sup>

Nevertheless, in claiming that the circuit court “abdicated” its role as fact-finder, appellant argues that “judges have a duty to make credibility findings to the extent there was conflicting evidence during the immunity hearing.” (App. Brief 12). Appellant cites no legal authority for this proposition. (App. Brief 12). Although express credibility findings of the type appellant demands may be a wise practice, there is no legal duty requiring them and their

---

<sup>6</sup> Other portions of the record also reveal the circuit court wrestling with the factual issues presented in the case. For example, the court contrasted the relevance of the victim’s intent with appellant’s assessment of danger (R. 117, l. 19-25), the significance of the warning shot (R. 120, l. 1-15), and appellant’s lack of situational awareness regarding who was at fault in bringing about the difficulty. (R. 122, l. 9-20).

absence would not constitute an abuse of discretion. Controlling precedent simply provides that the circuit court “must sit as the fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” Cervantes-Pavon, Op. No. 27872 (S.C.Sup.Ct. filed Mar. 27, 2019)(Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 13 at 35).<sup>7</sup>

Furthermore, in denying appellant’s claim of immunity, the circuit court implicitly ruled on the credibility of the witnesses. The court only heard two versions of the events that led to the confrontation: (1) Jacob Kirk claimed Randy Wilson was at fault, and (2) Randy Wilson claimed the victim was at fault.<sup>8</sup> Appellant acted in defense of Randy Wilson. In order to deny appellant’s claim of immunity, the court would have to find Kirk’s version more credible than Wilson’s.<sup>9</sup> Thus, the court’s credibility assessment is evident from the words, “we find the Defendant failed to meet his burden because he did not prove that Wilson was without fault in bringing about the difficulty.” (R. 134). Simply put, the circuit court did not need to “show its work” as if it were solving a high school math problem.

Appellant also notes the various standards a circuit court applies in other settings, such as civil bench trials, post-conviction relief claims, and pre-trial rulings on the admissibility of evidence. (App. Brief 12-14). For example, by rule in civil bench trials the court “shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon.” Rule 52(a), SCRCP.

---

<sup>7</sup> Additionally, the Supreme Court has noted that “[w]hile the Act does not require a written order upon an immunity determination, specific findings of fact and conclusions of law are critical to reviewing courts, particularly given the gravity of the circumstances these cases necessarily involve Cervantes-Pavon, Op. No. 27872 (S.C.Sup.Ct. filed Mar. 27, 2019)(Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 13 at 36, n. 4).

<sup>8</sup> Appellant conceded on cross-examination that he did not know who was at fault in bringing about the conflict. (R. 60, l. 14-15).

<sup>9</sup> Randy admitted that immediately before Mitchell pinned him in the corner, he knocked Mitchell’s beer of the railing and tried to push him out of the way. (R. 36, l. 18-25; 37, l. 1).

Similarly, by statute in post-conviction relief cases the court “shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80. In contrast, the Act imposes no similar requirement on the circuit court for pre-trial immunity hearings. Therefore, in arguing that the circuit court erred by not applying these standards, appellant is comparing apples to oranges.

In fact, this Court recently addressed an identical argument in State v. Andrews, 424 S.C. 304, 818 S.E.2d 227 (Ct. App. 2018). In Andrews, the parties offered conflicting accounts of a homicide at an immunity hearing. The circuit court held that the defendant failed to meet his burden of proof, noting the inconsistent witness testimony created a jury question. Id. at 311, 818 S.E.2d at 231. On appeal, the defendant argued that because of the conflicting testimony, the circuit court had a duty to make credibility findings. The defendant also argued that the circuit court erred in ruling the inconsistent testimony made the claim of self-defense a “quintessential jury question.” Id. at 314-15, 818 S.E.2d at 233.

This Court disagreed with both of those arguments, finding that “the circuit court properly submitted the case to the jury.” Id. at 316, 818 S.E.2d at 234. In other words, the circuit court’s finding that the inconsistent testimony created a “quintessential jury question” did not indicate that the court failed to act as a fact-finder at the immunity hearing. Instead, the finding indicated that because the defendant failed to prove his case at hearing, he was not immune from prosecution. As such, his claim presented a question for the jury. Id. at 315, 818 S.E.2d at 234.

This case presents an identical situation and should be upheld for the same reason. The circuit court sat as fact-finder, weighed the evidence, and reached a conclusion in this case. Appellant has taken portions of the circuit court order out of context and attempts to derive a

meaning that is inconsistent with both the plain text of the order and the court's statements at the hearing. Read as a whole, the circuit court order applies the correct burden of proof and aligns with controlling precedent.

**II. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S RULING THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO PROVE HIS IMMUNITY CLAIM BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE SHOULD BE UPHeld BECAUSE IT HAS EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.**

In order to receive immunity from prosecution under the Act, an accused must establish all the elements of self-defense, except the duty to retreat, by a preponderance of the evidence. e.g. State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 318, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014). As the Court is aware, there are four elements of self-defense: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty, (2) the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury, (3) a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage would have shared the belief, and (4) the defendant had no other alternatives to avoid the threat.<sup>10</sup> Id. at 318, 768 S.E.2d at 238-39. When acting in defense of others, an accused must show that the person in whose defense he is acting would "likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense." State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 64, 480 S.E.2d 62, 64 (1997).

**A. Appellant Failed To Prove That Randy Wilson Was Not At Fault In Bringing On The Difficulty.**

With respect to the first element of self-defense, an individual who "provokes or initiates an assault" cannot claim self-defense. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). Stated differently, "any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated

---

<sup>10</sup> As noted above, the Act provides that an accused does not have to prove the fourth element of self-defense, the duty to retreat. State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 318, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014).

to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for homicide.” Id. Moreover, “the plea of self-defense is not available to one who uses language so opprobrious that a reasonable man would expect it to bring on a physical encounter, and which did actually contribute to bringing it on.” State v. Strickland, 389 S.C. 210, 215, 697 S.E.2d 681, 684 (Ct. App. 2010)(quoting State v. Woodham, 162 S.C. 492, 502, 160 S.E. 885, 889 (1931)).

The circuit court found that appellant failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Randy Wilson was without fault in bringing about the difficulty. (R. 134). The court’s ruling has evidentiary support and should be upheld. See e.g. State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 301, 786 S.E.2d 132, 142 (2016)(“Under this Court’s deferential standard of review, we hold there is evidence to support the [circuit court’s] findings as to each element of self-defense.”).

As discussed above, Jacob Kirk testified that “Randy was instigating the entire thing from start to finish ... by the way that he was speaking to me, nagging us on physically, verbally.” (R. 105, l. 22-25; 106, l. 1). After the police left, Randy began rummaging through and destroying Mitchell Bradley’s property. (R. 92, l. 8-13). Specifically, he opened a carton of Mitchell’s cigarettes, crumpled them up, and threw them all over the front porch. (R. 92, l. 10-13; 106, l. 24; 107, l.1-2). In response, Mitchell pushed Randy down the steps of the back porch. Nevertheless, Randy continued to provoke additional conflict. (R. 92, l. 17-19). He walked back up the steps, smacked Mitchell’s beer off the railing, and tried to push him out of the way. (R. 94, l. 6- 24). Simply put, Randy started the conflict that ultimately led to appellant’s use of deadly force. Therefore, appellant was not justified in using deadly force on his behalf.

In assessing whether Randy’s conduct “was reasonably calculated to produce the occasion,” this Court’s opinion in State v. Strickland, 389 S.C. 210, 697 S.E.2d 681 (Ct. App.

2010) is instructive. In Strickland, the defendant was charged with murder arising from a family dispute. The defendant was arguing with his wife at her father's trailer. The wife's brother intervened, stating, "I'm not going to have this in my daddy's house." The defendant told the brother to "shut your fucking mouth" at which point the father attacked the defendant. During the ensuing fight, the defendant killed the brother and injured the father. On appeal, he argued that the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because he established self-defense as a matter of law.

This Court disagreed, noting that the defendant was not without fault in bringing about the difficulty. The fact-finder, in this case the jury, could have concluded that the defendant's statement to "shut your fucking mouth" might reasonably be expected to bring on the difficulty. Id. at 215, 697 S.E.2d at 684. As such, there was evidentiary support to find he was at fault in bringing about the difficulty.

Like Strickland, this case has evidentiary support to find Randy Wilson was at fault in bringing about the difficulty. Randy's actions are similar to the words used in Strickland in that both will provoke conflict. Although in an ideal world someone would shrug off Randy's actions, in the real world one can reasonably expect Randy's conduct to start a fight. Randy had no one to blame for Mitchell's response but himself. Therefore, the circuit court's ruling had evidentiary support and should be upheld on appeal.

**B. Appellant's Claim That Randy Wilson Withdrew From The Conflict Is Not Preserved For Appellate Review And Fails On The Merits.**

Even if an accused is at fault in bringing about the difficulty, he can regain his right to self-defense if he withdraws from the conflict and announces an intent to retire. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). Stated differently, "[o]ne's right to self-defense is restored after a withdrawal from the initial difficulty with the victim if that withdrawal is

communicated to the victim by word or act.” Id. at 345, 520 S.E.2d at 322. Therefore, “[r]egardless of what extremity or imminent peril he may be reduced to in the progress of the combat,” an individual must “endeavor[] in good faith to decline further conflict, and either by word or act, make[] that fact known to his adversary.” State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 232 n. 2, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 n. 2 (2003)(quoting State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 451, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495-96 (1973)).

Appellant claims that even if Randy Wilson was at fault in bringing upon the difficulty, he withdrew from the conflict and communicated that intent to the victim. (App Brief 30). Appellant failed to preserve this argument for appellate review. See e.g. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003)(“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised and ruled upon by the trial judge.”). Although appellant raised the issue at the immunity hearing, the circuit court did not rule upon it. (R.126, l. 21-25; 127, l. 1-3). As noted above, the court’s order only considers whether Randy Wilson was at fault in bringing about the difficulty, not whether he attempted to withdraw. (R. 134). At trial, appellant renewed his motion for immunity but never asked the court to rule on the other issues he presented. (R. 389, l. 1-3). The circuit court summarily denied the motion, stating “I stand by my previous ruling.” (R. 389, l. 6-7).

Because the court did not address the remaining issues of self-defense, this case is analogous to State v. Rivers, 411 S.C. 551, 769 S.E.2d 263 (Ct. App. 2015). In Rivers, the defendant filed a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence of prior bad acts in a homicide by child abuse case. Specifically, the defendant claimed that there was no evidence connecting him to some injuries the child previously sustained. The circuit court denied the motion, stating, “[t]hese cases are getting a little different treatment than what we normally are use[d] to

involving adult cases and other type criminal cases.” Id. at 553, 769 S.E.2d at 265. The court also advised the defendant, “[y]ou’re protected on the record on that.” Id.

Nevertheless, this Court found the issue unpreserved for appellate review. The circuit court’s ruling that “child cases are getting a little different treatment” failed to reveal whether it considered the defendant’s argument that no evidence connected him to the child’s previous injuries.<sup>11</sup> Therefore, this Court held the issue was never ruled upon and, as such, unpreserved. Like Rivers, the circuit court in this case did not rule upon the withdrawal argument. In fact, the circuit court’s order lacked the ambiguity presented in Rivers. The circuit court explicitly declined to rule on any issue other than Randy Wilson’s fault in bringing about the difficulty. Thus, appellant’s argument is not preserved for review.

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